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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY 

WASHINGTON, D.C.
Issued by the Department of Transportation

on the  22nd day of November, 2002

 Complaint of 


   
Dr. Maureen Lynch v.
Served November 22, 2002
   
British Airways, Plc.


 Violations of 49 U.S.C. § 41705 
OST 2002-12378
Order Dismissing Complaint

On May 7, 2002, Dr. Maureen Lynch, a disabled person, filed a third-party enforcement complaint under 14 CFR 302.401 against British Airways alleging that the carrier discriminated against her in travel she undertook in July and September 2000.  According to the complaint, the carrier’s conduct toward Dr. Lynch violated 49 U.S.C. § 41705, the Air Carrier Access Act (ACAA), as well as a number of provisions of 14 CFR Part 382, the Department rule implementing the ACAA.  The carrier has denied any discrimination occurred and has urged the dismissal of the complaint.  On reviewing the pleadings of the parties, as supplemented by information provided in subsequent filings responsive to our requests, we have determined that the record demonstrates that no violations of the ACAA or Part 382 occurred in this case and have decided to dismiss the complaint.  

Discrimination against disabled air travelers by foreign air carriers is explicitly prohibited under the ACAA, as recently amended by AIR 21.
  Although the applicability provisions of Part 382 expressly exclude foreign carriers, the Office of Enforcement and Proceedings (Enforcement Office) has indicated that, in light of the AIR-21 amendments to the ACAA, it intends to refer to Part 382 as guidance in reviewing disability-related complaints lodged against foreign carriers until rulemaking to revise Part 382 is completed.

Complaint

Dr. Lynch, according to the complaint, held confirmed reservations for travel from Cork, Ireland, to Atlanta, Georgia, with a connection in London, in July 2000, with a return flight in September.  British Airways refused to board Dr. Lynch on the first flight of her itinerary, a Cork to Gatwick flight operated by a British Airways franchisee.  The aircraft used on the flight was an Avro RJ-100.  The carrier, the complaint states, explained to Dr. Lynch the time-consuming process required to board a disabled person with an aisle wheelchair on that specific aircraft type.  In addition, the complaint states that, according to the carrier, seats aboard the aircraft had to be moved to widen the aisle in order to allow the passage of a wheelchair.  During this process, no passengers could be in the cabin area.  Once the disabled person was seated, the seats would be returned to their original positions and other passengers would be allowed to board.  Since boarding had already commenced at the time Dr. Lynch reached the boarding area, British Airways ground personnel, as narrated in the complaint, refused to request that the passengers already aboard disembark so that this reconfiguration process could occur.  According to the complaint, this refusal to board and transport Dr. Lynch constituted a violation of 14 CFR 382.31 and the failure to provide suitable boarding assistance violated 14 CFR 382.39. 

The complaint further alleges that, on the return flight from Atlanta to Gatwick, Dr. Lynch was also refused boarding, in this case owing to the carrier’s insistence that she be accompanied by an attendant.  According to the complaint, Dr. Lynch did not fall within any of the categories of passengers for which, under 14 CFR 382.35(b), a carrier may require an attendant.  The complaint states that eventually Dr. Lynch was allowed to board after the flight cabin crew, learning that Dr. Lynch was a medical doctor, retracted their initial decision.  A British Airways flight attendant, according to the complaint, also informed Dr. Lynch that the flight crew would not be willing to assist her in moving around the cabin area during the flight.  Dr. Lynch, the complaint asserts, should have been allowed to board without objection by the cabin crew in accordance with section 382.35, and the crew should have recognized their responsibility to assist her in moving around the cabin area, as required by section 382.39.  The delay that Dr. Lynch encountered in attempting to board the return flight, and the cabin crew’s initial reluctance to provide boarding assistance, the complaint asserts, illustrate the inadequacy of the carrier’s training program required by 14 CFR 382.61.  

The complainant requests that the Department find that British Airways’ conduct has violated 49 U.S.C. § 41705, as well as provisions of 14 CFR Part 382.  Furthermore, discrimination such as that experienced by Dr. Lynch, the complaint claims, is also subject to the prohibitions of 49 U.S.C. § 41310, a general anti-discrimination provision that has in some instances been applied to cases involving disabled travelers in foreign air transportation.  The Department, according to the complaint, should investigate British Airways’ actions in this instance and issue an appropriate cease and desist order against further violations of the ACAA, section 41310, and Part 382.  

Response of British Airways

British Airways responded in a filing of July 9, 2002.  The carrier argues that it would be poor policy to find that 49 U.S.C. 41310, 49 U.S.C. 41705 or Part 382 applies to the Cork-Gatwick flight on Dr. Lynch’s outbound journey, since the flight was between two points outside the U.S., on a flight operated by a British Airways franchisee without any code-sharing affiliation with a U.S. carrier.  The recently amended ACAA, which now explicitly applies to foreign carriers, refers to foreign air carriers providing “foreign air transportation,” which does not, British Airways argues, include service between two foreign points, such as the Cork-Gatwick segment of the complainant’s flight.

Part 382, British Airways points out, applies, with its current language, only to U.S. carriers.  The carrier further states that to this point there has been no revision of Part 382 to cover foreign air carriers explicitly, although it recognizes the Department has issued a notice stating that it will look to Part 382 for guidance in reviewing complaints of discrimination against foreign carriers.  In these circumstances, British Airways contends, it would not be appropriate to expect strict compliance with Part 382 by it or other foreign carriers.

Even if the Department applies the provisions of Part 382, however, there is, British Airways asserts, no basis for finding that it violated any provision of the rule.  Dr. Lynch was denied boarding on the Cork-Gatwick flight, the carrier asserts, because she arrived at the boarding gate late, when the boarding process was already well advanced.  The Cork-Gatwick flight, operated by CityFlyer under a franchise agreement with British Airways, was performed with an Avro RJ100, a small aircraft which did not have an accessible lavatory or an on-board wheelchair.  British Airways states that in order to accommodate a boarding chair, which was available at the Cork airport, the procedure recommended by the manufacturer is to move the seats on board the aircraft, a procedure, however, that could only be undertaken when no other passengers were on board.  In this case, since boarding was already in process at the time Dr. Lynch arrived at the gate and several passengers were already seated, the use of a wheelchair to board Dr. Lynch would have required disembarking other passengers, reconfiguring the seats to permit passage of the wheelchair, and then returning the seats to their original position for the flight.  Only at that time could the remaining passengers take their seats.  The carrier asserts that the flight already was behind schedule and it would have been unreasonable to delay the flight further to accommodate Dr. Lynch.
  

With respect to Dr. Lynch’s experience on her return flight from Atlanta to London, British Airways concedes that there was a misunderstanding on the part of its cabin crew when they initially declined to board Dr. Lynch, insisting that she required an attendant.  However, Dr. Lynch was, upon further discussion among the crew, eventually allowed to board the flight without an attendant.  As a result, British Airways contends, no discriminatory conduct occurred and there was no violation of Dr. Lynch’s right to travel unaccompanied.  Dr. Lynch’s complaint does not indicate whether she requested any assistance in moving within the aircraft during her flight and, if so, whether she had difficulty obtaining such assistance.

Section 41310, which the complaint cites as an additional basis for Department enforcement action, British Airways points out, has been relied on by the Department as grounds for enforcement action regarding alleged acts of discrimination against disabled travelers on three occasions.  Each case involved a flight by a foreign carrier operated directly to the U.S. and two of the flights were operated pursuant to code-share relationships with U.S. carriers.  In Dr. Lynch’s case, the carrier stresses, the incident occurred on a flight whose origin and destination were outside the U.S. and was not subject to any code-share agreement. With respect to the return flight, British Airways points out that, despite initial objections to her boarding, the carrier’s crew eventually decided that she could travel without an attendant and allowed her to board the aircraft.

Moreover, British Airways emphasizes that at the time of Dr. Lynch’s travel in the summer of 2000 the Air Carrier Access Act had only recently been amended to extend its nondiscriminatory mandate to foreign carriers.  The Department rule implementing the ACAA, 14 CFR Part 382, has not yet been amended to reflect the extended scope of the ACAA, British Airways points out.  In answer to the Complainant’s assertion that the incident at Atlanta demonstrates a failure on the part of British Airways to provide adequate training, the carrier replies that it would be costly and inefficient for the carrier to sponsor specialized training for its employees involving a rule from which, under the rule’s current terms, it is exempt.  British Airways does not concede that the standards of Part 382 appropriately apply to its operations, although it endeavors to show that, even if they did apply, the carrier’s conduct in these incidents meets the standards called for by the rule.

The Enforcement Office augmented the record in this case through requests for information from the parties.  In a letter of August 22, 2002, responding to this inquiry, Dr. Lynch confirmed that, due to congestion at the terminal area, she arrived at the gate after the boarding process had begun but claims that she was boarded without difficulty on the same flight the next day, without a reconfiguration of seats.  British Airways, in a letter of October 3, 2002, stated that Dr. Lynch was accommodated on the same flight the following day by assigning her a seat in the business class section of the aircraft which was accessible to the boarding chair without moving the seats.
  

Decision

On the basis of the pleadings and supplementary information provided in response to requests from the Enforcement Office, we have determined that no violations have occurred and are dismissing the complaint.
  Although the carrier was unable to accommodate Dr. Lynch on the Cork-London flight on which she held a reservation, it had a means for rendering the boarding assistance that would have been practical had the carrier received advance notice of her boarding requirements or if she had arrived earlier in the boarding process so that an on-board wheelchair, which was available, could have been used.
  We are unable to find that a foreign air carrier, in these circumstances, including the lack of advance notice, is under an obligation to remove passengers already on board, causing a flight to be delayed, or to provide a specific kind of boarding chair that would have been compatible, without a reconfiguration of seats, with the small aircraft used on the Cork-London flight, in order to accommodate a disabled person.  With respect to Dr. Lynch’s return flight, while the misunderstandings that arose prior to her boarding her return flight should not have occurred, they do not constitute a violation of 49 U.S.C. 41705 since Dr. Lynch was permitted to board the aircraft without an attendant and no evidence exists that she was denied any requested assistance during the flight.  In addition, in the absence of a specific regulatory requirement relative to the training of foreign carrier employees, it would be unreasonable to hold that a foreign carrier is subject to the detailed training requirements of Part 382.  Dr. Lynch’s complaint, therefore, cannot support a finding of a violation of 49 U.S.C. § 41705 based on inadequate training by the carrier.  

In view of these considerations, it would not, therefore, be in the public interest to devote the Department’s resources to a further investigation of Dr. Lynch’s complaint.  

ACCORDINGLY, I dismiss the third-party complaint in this docket.

This order is issued under authority assigned in 14 CFR 302.406(b) and shall be effective as the final action of the Department within 30 days after service.

By:

Samuel Podberesky

Assistant General Counsel for

Aviation Enforcement and Proceedings

An electronic version of this document is available on the World Wide Web at

http://dms.dot.gov//reports/reports_aviation.asp
� 	The Wendell H. Ford Aviation Investment and Reform Act for the 21st Century, P.L. 106-181, 114 Stat. 61, April 5, 2000.


� 	Notice, May 18, 2000 (See “Rules and Guidelines” link on the Department website at www.dot.gov/airconsumer).


� 	Even if Part 382 applied to this flight, British Airways argues, there would be no requirement that the flight have an on-board wheelchair under section 382.21(a)(3) and 382.21(a)(4).  In this regard, the carrier points out that pursuant to 382.33(a)(8), the rule’s advance notice requirements, a carrier may require up to 48 hours advance notice for an on-board wheelchair on an aircraft that does not have an accessible lavatory.  According to British Airways, Dr. Lynch provided no such notice and, as a result, the carrier was obligated to provide boarding assistance only “if it can do so by making a reasonable effort, without delaying the flight.” (section 382.33(c)).(British Airways Answer, at 6, 7).  


� 	Such upgrades are not required by the ACAA or Part 382.


� 	We do so without reaching a decision on whether the ACAA applied to the Cork-London flight at issue here.  The applicability of the ACAA to the flights of foreign air carriers and their partner carriers that connect with flights to or from the U.S. will be considered in the Part 382 rulemaking discussed above.


� 	Under 382.33(b)(8), a carrier may require up to 48 hours notice if an on-board wheelchair is required.  This requirement however, contrary to British Airways’ apparent assertion, applies only to the use of an on-board wheelchair to reach a lavatory on the aircraft, not for the use of such a device to provide boarding assistance.  





